



Supporting people who have restricted eligibility due to their immigration status

Guidance for homelessness services

Supporting people who have restricted eligibility due to their immigration status

Guidance for Homelessness Services

Contents

Introduction	3
What restricted eligibility means	4
EEA Nationals	8
Types of immigration status following 30th June 2021	9
Role of the Home Office and Local Authorities	11
The Home Office	11
Local Authorities (LAs)	14
Key issues for homelessness services	15
Working with your LA and other specialist organisations	15
Service eligibility and NRPF	16
Collecting and storing immigration status information	17
Contact with the Home Office	17
The accessibility of your service	19
Support with basic needs, accommodation, social care, health care and immigration	
advice	20
1. Basic Needs	20
2. Accommodation Needs	21
3. Social Care Needs	24
4. Health Needs	27
5. Immigration Advice Needs	29
Case Studies: Supporting Non-UK Nationals facing homelessness	33
Case Study: Bradford Council and partners	34
Case Study: Islington Borough Council	37
Case Study: Lewisham Law Centre and Lewisham Council	41
Case Study: The Oxfordshire Homeless Movement Partnership	43
Case Study: Reading Borough Council	46
Further Resources	51

Produced by

The National Practice Development Team

Published

First published in February 2022, most recently updated in December 2024

Acknowledgement

This resource has been funded by MHCLG through the <u>VCFS programme</u>.

Introduction

This resource is for homelessness services in England whose service users may include adults without dependents who have restricted eligibility for some public services and welfare benefits due to their immigration status.

People with restricted eligibility are at high risk of homelessness and destitution because they cannot access mainstream housing and welfare benefits. Providing support to this group can help prevent homelessness and destitution and improve their well-being and health.

This guidance explains what restricted eligibility means and the role of the Home Office and local authorities (LAs) in relation to this. It also addresses some of the main concerns that services might have about working with individuals with restricted eligibility and summarises the support that non-specialist services can provide to help meet the housing, care and immigration advice needs of this group. Details of specialist organisations (national) can be found in the final section.

This guidance also contains case studies from five local authority areas in England highlighting their responses to homelessness amongst people with restricted eligibility due to their immigration status.

Homeless Link has recently published a learning report from the 'Immigration Advice for Rough Sleepers Fund'¹, a GLA funded, Homeless Link-managed fund which explores the seven models of delivery from the projects who were awarded grants, as well as key lessons learnt from the funding period. In addition to this, Homeless Link and NACCOM (The No Accommodation Network) have published a research report² which puts forward a roadmap for change for local authorities and Government to sustainably tackle homelessness among non-UK nationals with restricted eligibility.

Since first publishing this resource, the new Nationality and Borders Bill has become an act of law (April 2022) which has led to significant changes to the system of immigration for people seeking asylum. Refugee Council provides detailed information on what these changes mean.³

¹ https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/learning-report-for-immigration-advice-for-rough-sleepers-fund/

 $^{^2\ \}underline{\text{https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/unlocking-the-door-a-roadmap-for-supporting-non-uk-nationals-facing-homelessness-in-england/}$

 $^{^{3} \ \}underline{\text{https://refugeecouncil.org.uk/information/refugee-asylum-facts/what-is-the-nationality-and-borders-bill/}$

What restricted eligibility means

Most non-UK nationals are required to obtain 'leave' to enter or remain in the UK from the Home Office (unless they have the right of abode or are exempt from immigration control). Following the UK's departure from the European Union, this requirement also applies to European Economic Area (EEA) nationals, although those who were living in the UK before the end of the transition period have different residence rights and entitlements to services through the European Union Settlement Scheme (EUSS). See EEA Nationals Section below for further information.

Many people will have conditions attached to their leave that restrict their entitlements to claim benefits and access housing assistance. 'Restricted eligibility' is a relatively new term which has been adopted to describe people in this group. They may also be described as having 'no recourse to public funds' (NRPF). For immigration purposes, the term 'public funds' relates to certain benefits (including Housing Benefit and Universal Credit), homelessness assistance and a local authority allocation of social housing under the Housing Act 1996. Importantly, this public funds restriction does not prevent people accessing other publicly funded services such as social care, compulsory education or healthcare including COVID-19 vaccination, although some services may also impose some restrictions based on nationality and immigration status.⁴

Having restricted eligibility is not necessarily a problem - people can be studying, working, or living in the UK using their own funds and can support themselves. However, individuals who become unable to support themselves, or whose immigration status has changed or was never regularised,⁵ can have a change in their circumstances and find themselves in need of support. This can often occur after a long period of destitution, after asylum claims have been refused for example, after employment arrangements or support networks have broken down or after escaping an exploitative situation.

It is helpful to understand the main 'groups' of people who will have restricted eligibility. We have categorized these into five broad groups:

1. Regular Migrants

Regular migrants are people with a valid visa that allows them to live or stay in the UK for a specific purpose, for example, to study or work. Generally, visas giving limited leave to enter or remain (i.e. a visa with a time limit) for working, visiting or studying are subject to the NRPF condition.⁶ These individuals should have

⁴ See later pages for more information on access to health care

⁵ Immigration status can, in some cases, be regularised via Home Office e.g. a new visa or being awarded leave to remain

⁶ However, please note some people granted leave to remain on the basis of long residence or their family life in the UK (under the <u>10 year settlement routes</u>) may be given recourse to public funds if they can demonstrate to the Home Office that they are destitute at the time the Home Office decides to grant

documents that show their immigration status and any accompanying restrictions on working or claiming public funds.

2. EEA Nationals without Settled Status

Individuals who have lived in the UK prior to 1 January 2021 for less than 5 years may have restricted eligibility. Most EEA Nationals entering the UK after 1 January 2021 are now subject to immigration rules which can restrict their right to work, claim benefits, access services and accommodation. More information about types of immigration status for EEA Nationals following the 30th June 2021 can be found in the next section.

3. Irregular or 'undocumented' migrants

Irregular migrants include people who have entered the country without a visa (sometimes referred to as 'undocumented' migrants), people who have stayed in the UK after the expiry of their visa (sometimes referred to as 'over-stayers') or after an unsuccessful application for a visa extension or people whose visa has become invalid because of a change in circumstances, for example a domestic worker who has left their employer, often due to exploitation. These individuals will not have permission to work. People without valid identity documents and who cannot prove their country of origin can fall into this category.

4. People seeking asylum and refused asylum seekers

People who have applied for refugee status which is under consideration by the Home Office, or where their claim has been determined and refused, will have restricted eligibility. Those with an asylum claim pending and who are destitute are usually provided with Home Office asylum accommodation and basic financial assistance. This support will come to an end once they are granted refugee status at which point the NRPF condition will no longer apply. Refused asylum seekers retain their NRPF status and also lose the Home Office support. In such cases, individuals are at risk of detention and removal from the UK. Refused asylum seekers may be eligible for further emergency assistance, known as Section 4 support. Asylum seekers and refused asylum seekers will usually not have a right to work.

leave.

⁷ For more information, see https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/support-options-for-people-with-nrpf/home-office-support/

⁸ Exceptions include those who have been waiting for more than 12 months for a decision on their claim and those who originally entered on a work or student visa but then made a human rights or asylum application following a change in circumstances, may be granted a continuing right to work see https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research

<u>briefings/sn01908/#:~:text=The%20current%20position%20is%20that%2C%20generally%2C%20asylum%20seekers%20are%20not,further%20submission%20for%20asylum%3B%20and</u>

5. Other groups with restricted eligibility

A wide variety of other people may also find themselves subject to an NRPF condition for a range of different reasons, despite having lived and worked in the UK for many years. For example, the NRPF restrictions affected people from Caribbean countries who moved to the UK in the 1940-S0s and had the right to permanently live and work in the UK but who, as adults, had their entitlements revoked by the Home Office (the Home Office wrongly deciding that Commonwealth citizens with permanent leave to remain in the UK had over-stayed).⁹

'Zambrano carers' are people who have rights of residence in the UK due to them caring for someone who is a British citizen but they are subject to certain restrictions in accessing public funds.¹⁰

Please note also that some people might have recourse to public funds but have lost all the documents that prove it. Often the Home Office systems will contain no records of them and they will need immigration advice to resolve their situation. There are also people who believe for many years that they are UK citizens, only to discover on losing employment and/or accommodation that their immigration status was never regularised in childhood. Having been self-sufficient for decades, these people can find themselves with no recourse to public funds until their immigration status is resolved.

When a person has leave to enter or remain that is subject to the NRPF condition, the term 'no public funds' will be stated on their residence permit, entry clearance vignette, or biometric residence permit (BRP).

Can restricted eligibility conditions change?

Restrictions are often not permanent - some people's circumstances change over time so that they become eligible for public funds, for example:

- Asylum seekers who have successful claims for protection and been granted refugee status, humanitarian protection or old-style discretionary leave to remain are granted leave to remain with recourse to public funds.
- A visa over-stayer who has made a successful human rights application and as a result has been granted limited leave to remain without a restriction on public funds.
- An individual who has already been granted limited leave to remain with NRPF under certain categories, but they become destitute following a change of circumstances, can apply for the NRPF condition to be removed.
- EEA Nationals with pre-settled status can apply for settled status as soon as they have lived in the UK for 5 years, regardless of when pre-settled status was granted. Those with settled status will have 'indefinite leave to remain'

⁹ For more on the 'Windrush scandal' see: www.jcwi.org.uk/windrush-scandal-explained

¹⁰ See https://www.housing-rights.info/zambrano-carers.php

and will be able to work and can claim benefits and homelessness assistance in the same way as a UK national.

Status Verification, Enquiries and Checking (SVEC)

The SVEC service responds by secure email to legally justified immigration status enquiries. This service is open to all public bodies to support their statutory duties.

Email address: ICESSVECWorkflow@homeoffice.gov.uk

A move to eVisas

The Home Office has a programme underway to develop a digital immigration system. Digital proof (an eVisa) of a person's immigration status will replace the following physical documents:

- Biometric Residence Permits (BRP)
- Biometric Residence Cards (BRC)
- Passport endorsements, such as indefinite leave to enter (wet ink stamps)
- Vignette stickers in passports, such as entry clearance or visa vignettes.

The eVisa will provide an online record of a person's immigration status and the conditions of their permission to enter or stay in the UK. From Summer 2024, individuals will need to create a UKVI account to view and share relevant information about their status securely with third parties, such as employers or landlords.

In the future, they will be able to use their eVisa to travel to the UK and will not need to carry a physical document, except for their current passport, which must be registered on their UKVI account. Until then, individuals should carry their physical document, if they have one.

Guidance on eVisas and who needs to take action can be found here.

Any gueries about eVisas can be sent to: eVisaGrants@homeoffice.gov.uk

For individuals who do not hold the relevant identity documents to create an eVisa account themselves, there is now a process for requesting prioritisation to assist with eVisa account creation. The service can be requested by emailing

<u>UKVIHomelessnessEscalations@homeoffice.gov.uk</u>. Any referrer not from a Local Authority or other Government Department, must come with a customer consent form. For eVisa referrals, it is essential that the referrer provide an email address and telephone number of the client, along with the client name, DOB and nationality.

Immigration rule changes relating to rough sleeping

Changes to the Immigration Rules published on 22 October 2020 made rough sleeping grounds for refusing or cancelling a person's leave to remain in the UK. The associated guidance published in April 2021 clarified how they should be applied. The rules give the Home Office new powers to refuse or cancel a person's leave to remain in the UK if a person has been rough sleeping and has refused repeated offers of suitable support and engaged in persistent anti-social behaviour. The guidance gives examples of 'support' which include help to apply for a voluntary return and support offered by non-commissioned services. Decisionmakers should also consider how vulnerabilities, like mental or physical health issues, have prevented engagement with support in making their assessment. These decisions are carried out by Immigration Enforcement's National Command and Control Unit, following referrals from either the police, LAs or immigration enforcement officers themselves. If the Home Office receive a referral from police and the anti-social behaviour threshold is reached, they will make enquiries to the relevant LA about the support offered to the individual. Importantly, where a person has not been offered support or exhausted their support options because of restrictions to their eligibility, for example if they have No Recourse to Public Funds the guidance clarifies that the rule should not be applied. The rules also do not apply to applicants or people eligible to apply to the EUSS; most refugees and asylum seekers; anyone granted leave under another protection route; people with indefinite leave to remain; and former members of the UK Armed Forces and their family members.

Despite the exclusions Homeless Link and many other organisations have serious concerns about the impact of these changes which are likely to have knock-on effects on wider groups of non-UK nationals and providers of homelessness services (Information about the nuanced categories of those affected is unlikely to be understood by many on the ground, and uncertainty and distrust in services spread quickly.) Homeless Link is leading a campaign highlighting concern about this and calling for the rules to be scrapped or mitigated.

EEA Nationals

Following the departure of the UK from the EU and the ending of the transition period, European free movement no longer applies in the UK. Most EEA nationals¹¹ entering the UK **after 1 January 2021** are now subject to immigration rules which can restrict their right to work, claim benefit, access services and health care and rent property.

¹¹ EEA nationals in this document is intended to mean citizens of countries within the European Union and the European Economic Area as well as Swiss nationals. The term EU nationals or EU citizens could also be used instead of EEA nationals.

2021 to apply to the EUSS to obtain settled or pre-settled status. The period between 1 January and 30 June 2021 was known as a 'grace period' which gave people an additional six months to apply. For those that have not applied by 30 June 2021, the Home Office will accept late applications if the applicant can show that they have a reasonable excuse for missing the deadline.

There is now a significant difference between those EEA nationals in the UK who have applied for, or have been granted, settled or pre-settled status under the EUSS and those who do not, with the latter having potentially restricted rights and entitlement to live, work, access services and claim benefits.

Types of immigration status following 30th June 2021

Set out below are the most common types of status that EEA nationals in the UK can have following the EUSS deadline of 30th June 2021 with a brief overview of associated rights and entitlements¹²:

- 1. Settled Status This applies to someone living in the UK prior to 1 January 2021 who has been able to evidence 5 years continuous residence in the UK. They will have 'indefinite leave to remain' and will be able to work and claim benefits and homelessness assistance in the same way as a UK National. This settled status will be retained if the person leaves, then returns, to the UK as long as their absence is less than 5 years (if the absence extends beyond 5 years then settled status is lost).
- 2. **Pre-Settled Status -** This applies to someone living in the UK prior to 1 January 2021 who has demonstrated less than 5 years' residence in the UK. They will have 'leave to remain' in the UK for 5 years during which time they can continue to work, continue claiming benefits (in certain circumstances) and renting their home. Once a person with pre-settled status has been in the UK for 5 years, they can apply for settled status. They may not be able to obtain settled status if they are absent from the UK for more than 6 months in any 12-month period (some exceptions apply).
- 3. **Pending 'in-time' EUSS Application -** This applies to someone who was living in the UK prior to 1 January 2021 and has a valid EUSS application pending made before the 30 June 2021 deadline. The period of time after an EUSS application is made and before a decision is issued can be complex in relation to rights and entitlements. When someone makes an application to the EUSS they will receive a 'Certificate of Application' (CoA) after providing the appropriate documents/information. Government guidance states that a person can use their CoA to show that they have the right to work, right to rent, and entitlement to free secondary healthcare. People who were already in receipt of benefits and statutory support and who have a pending in-time application retain their

Homeless Link 2024. All rights reserved. Homeless Link is a charity no. 1089173 and a company no. 04313826

¹² A more detailed briefing on these types of status has been produced by the NRPF Network (for Local Authorities): https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/-/media/microsites/nrpf/documents/guidance/factsheet-eu-settlementscheme.pdf?la=en&hash=4B47BC7030DB7A459877902127FDAB93E7D9DE84

entitlements whilst they are waiting for a decision and this will continue until their EUSS application is concluded¹³. The position regarding rights to make *new* benefit claims should also be protected during this period. The CoA is important in evidencing their 'pending' status.

- 4. **Pending late EUSS Application -** This applies to someone who was living in the UK prior to 1 January 2021 and has a valid EUSS application pending made after the 30 June 2021 deadline. Government has clarified that the rights of late applicants are protected until their application and any appeal is decided.¹⁴ This means that they can use their CoA to prove their right to work, rent and access secondary healthcare, though these temporary protections are not yet set out in legislation. Additional right to reside tests will need to be satisfied in order to qualify for benefits or homelessness assistance.
- 5. Valid visa under new immigration rules This applies to someone entering the UK on/after 1 January 2021 and who is granted leave to enter to visit, work, or study. As with non-EEA nationals the position with entitlement to housing or benefits will depend on whether a condition of having no recourse to public funds has been placed on their leave. Most EEA nationals granted visas for visiting, working or studying are likely to have a condition that restricts their access to public funds. Over time this will mean that some EEA nationals who enter with visas under these new rules may find themselves homeless or destitute and will have very limited access to statutory services.
- **6. Unlawfully present/no status -** this will apply to a person in one of the following scenarios:
 - (i) they failed to apply to the EU Settlement Scheme by 30 June 2021.
 - (ii) they are refused status under the EU Settlement Scheme (and any subsequent appeal is unsuccessful).
 - (iii) they have overstayed a grant of leave/visa to enter or remain.

Those without status will not be able to work or make new benefit claims or claims for homelessness assistance.

EUSS Resolution Centre (RC)

The EUSS RC handles enquiries on general updates on applications, support to view and prove status, updating details, requesting a paper application form, help with uploading documents.

For support services, helping others with their EUSS status, you can contact the RC via telephone: **0300 790 0566** (Monday-Friday, 8am-8.30pm, Saturday & Sunday, 9.30am-4.30pm). Applicants inside the UK can call **0300 123 7379.**

¹³ https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/-/media/microsites/nrpf/documents/guidance/factsheet-eusettlement-scheme.pdf

¹⁴ https://www.gov.uk/government/news/temporary-protection-for-more-applicants-to-the-settlementscheme?utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=govuk-notifications&utm_source=3abea81a-120d-49be-b493db47fdac8524&utm_content=daily

EUSS Application Online Support

- Organisations providing support with EUSS applications can be searched for here.
- Vulnerable individuals who need support to apply to the EU Settlement Scheme can get free support from a local organisation. Search for an organisation via postcode here.

Role of the Home Office and Local Authorities

The Home Office

The Home Office is the government department responsible for managing immigration matters (amongst other things). Direct management is done through four main units or services:

- The Border Force which carries out immigration and customs controls for people and goods entering the UK
- HM Passport Office which issues UK passports
- Immigration Enforcement which is responsible for preventing abuse, tracking immigration offenders, and increasing compliance with immigration law. It works with partners such as the police to regulate migration in line with government policy
- UK Visas and Immigration the service most relevant for NRPF issues, this service:
 - o considers applications for British citizenship from overseas nationals who wish to settle here permanently
 - o runs the UK's asylum service offering protection to those eligible under the 1951 Geneva Convention
 - o manages appeals from unsuccessful applicants

The Home Office can detain people under immigration powers. For example, they can detain someone who is in the country illegally. Some people without immigration status are subject to detention in detention or removal centres.¹⁵

The Home Office provide some limited accommodation and financial support for destitute asylum seekers. There are two main types of asylum support:

- Section 95 support this usually covers the period whilst a person is waiting for their asylum claim to be determined, and
- Section 4 support this can be provided to unsuccessful asylum seekers.

Aylum support cessation procedure

In December 2024, the Home Office decided to pilot a change to its asylum support cessation procedure for newly recognised refuges.

¹⁵ For information on detention see Bail for Immigration Detainees (BID) at: www.biduk.org/

As of the 9th December 2024, individuals who have been granted their refugee status will now have **56 days** from the date they receive their Asylum Decision Letter to leave their asylum accommodation. The letter will set out that support will end in 56 days and contain actions to be taken to move on. The Asylum Support Discontinuation Letter (ASDL) will not be issued until an individual has been issued with their UKVI account details to access their eVisa. The ASDL will provide the exact end of support date, which will be calculated as 56 days from the date of decision and will always be a minimum of 28 days from the date on the ASDL.

This means individuals will have:

- 56 days to commence arrangements to move on from asylum accommodation and support following a grant of leave;
- More than 28 days on support with access to their eVisa;
- At least 28 days' notice of their exact end of support date, as indicated in the discontinuation letter.

Please note: This is a temporary pilot, set to end in June 2025, after which the government will decide whether to make it permanent.

Home Office Voluntary Returns Service (VRS)

The Home Office also runs the VRS which assists some migrants currently residing in the UK without the possibility of obtaining legal status, to return to their home country with practical and financial support. The Home Office website on voluntary returns¹⁶ states:

You can get help to return home if any of the following are true:

- you're in the UK illegally or have overstayed your visa or permission to stay
- you're in a family group with a child under 18 and are in the UK illegally
- you've withdrawn, or want to withdraw, your application to stay in the UK
- you've claimed asylum in the UK but now want to withdraw that claim

You cannot apply for voluntary return if you:

- are currently being investigated by the police or detained by the Home Office
- have been given a prison sentence that's 12 months or longer
- have been convicted of an immigration offence and given a deportation order
- have already been given humanitarian protection, indefinite leave to remain or refugee status in the UK
- have been told by UK Visas and Immigration that you are a 'third country case'
- are a European Economic Area or Swiss national (unless you have a letter from UK Visas and Immigration confirming you are a victim of modern slavery)."

Frontline workers supporting individuals who are rough sleeping, have exhausted all options, and have requested support to return to their home country, can discuss the VRS option, along with other options with them.

¹⁶ See www.gov.uk/return-home-voluntarily

It is important that frontline workers ensure that a range of options are discussed so that leaving the UK is not routinely seen as the only option. The involvement of independent immigration advice helps to ensure informed decisions are taken and people understand the choices they are making. This is particularly important given the significant implications that taking up a reconnection offer may have on people's future options to return to the UK.

If voluntary return is identified as a suitable option for an individual, frontline workers can find further information about the VRS process on the government voluntary return website.

Homelessness Escalations Service (HES).

Formerly known as the Rough Sleeper Support Service (RSSS), the HES provides a national point of contact for individuals working with people experiencing homelessness and those at risk of homelessness to confirm if they have legal status, and to progress any outstanding applications already submitted to the Home Office.¹⁷ The HES provides a service to quickly provide immigration status information which can help rough sleepers as it can prove if they have access to public funds. For individuals with an ongoing application for legal status, the HES can request for the case to be expedited.

There are different requirements, dependent on the type of organisation referring to the HES which must be met in order to access the service:

- For local authorities, no written authority is required.
- For all other users (charities etc.), a signed letter of authority to act on behalf of the individual must be provided.

Referrals can be made by emailing <u>UKVIHomelessnessEscalations@homeoffice.gov.uk</u> and workers should speak with the individual they are supporting to inform them about the referral, and gain consent (a signed letter of consent should be attached to the email). As a minimum, the referral must include:

- Confirmation that the individual you are referring to is homeless/a rough sleeper/at imminent risk of homelessness, including details of their situation.
- The individual's full name, DOB, and nationality
- A clear request of what you would like from the service are you asking if the individual has status already, checking if they have an open application, or seeking to have an open application prioritised?
- Any factors which add to the urgency of the case

¹⁷https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/11 62860/HES_User_Agreement_Accessible.pdf

It is important to note that the HES is not able to provide immigration advice. The focus of the HES is on safeguarding and to enable eligible individuals to promptly access the support to which they are entitled.

More information about the HES and how to make a referral is available on the Government website.

Home Office Homelessness Team (HOHT)

The HOHT, established at the end of 2020, leads the Home Office response to the government commitment to end rough sleeping. The team work with other government departments, local authorities, immigration advisors and the homelessness sector, facilitating engagement on homelessness issues across the Home Office and work in collaboration with DLUHC and the devolved administrations.

Within the Home Office the HOHT upskills frontline staff and decision makers in the vulnerabilities associated with rough sleeping and homelessness.

Email address: <u>HOHomelessnessteam@homeoffice.gov.uk</u>

Local Authorities (LAs)

LAs provide a range of services (some statutory and some discretionary). The most relevant to migrants who are homeless or destitute are likely to be social care services (sometimes referred to as social services) and housing or homelessness services. In some areas of England there are two tiers of LA, the upper tier or county council (which would usually provide social care) and the lower tier also known as borough or district councils (which usually provide housing and homelessness services and Housing Benefit). In other areas, LAs are single tier or unitary and will usually have different departments for social services and housing/homelessness services.

As mentioned, LAs are restricted in the support and services they can provide to NRPF clients, because some services are defined as 'public funds' including key services such as social housing, homelessness accommodation and Housing Benefit. Beyond these limitations, the range of powers and duties available to LAs to accommodate or otherwise support people with restricted eligibility can be extensive, particularly within the context of COVID-19. A recent briefing by the Law Centres Network¹⁸ refers to six different pieces of legislation which can enable LAs to accommodate and support people with NRPF (beyond the Housing Act 1996); Section 2b NHS Act 2006, Children Act 1989, Section 138 Local Government Act 1972, Care Act 2014, Mental Health Act 1983 and Localism Act 2011.

¹⁸ See https://www.lawcentres.org.uk/policy/news/news/exhaust-all-options-to-house-the-homeless-our-new-quidance-tocouncils

Individual LAs will interpret these powers and duties for themselves so in practice the approaches taken, and extent of help available, could vary significantly between councils.

It is a LA responsibility to ensure that people can access their services, so in cases where people cannot understand English, access to interpreters or multi-lingual advisors should be made available. The Homelessness Code of Guidance for Local Authorities states that translated information and interpreting services should be made available to all applicants for whom English is not a first language.

LAs are expected to provide emergency assistance to rough sleepers irrespective of immigration status during periods of severe weather (usually cold weather). This approach was also extended during the COVID-19 pandemic. LAs are able to provide or commission services for people sleeping rough using Rough Sleeper Initiative (RSI) and Cold Weather Funding. In 2022 'Protect and Vaccinate' funding was allocated to LA's and both this and RSI funding can be used to fund support for people with NRPF. LAs are increasingly commissioning immigration advice services to assist non-UK nationals who are rough sleeping or in emergency accommodation.

Managing applications for homelessness assistance for EU nationals with presettled status

From the 12th December, MHCLG updated the <u>Homelessness Code of Guidance</u> to reflect the <u>Court of Appeal's ruling</u> which advised on how to manage applications for EU nationals with pre-settled status.

Pre-settled status holders who were residing in the UK according to EU law by the end of the Transition Period have the benefit of the EU Charter of Fundamental Rights. This includes the right to dignity under Article 1 of the Charter.

For this cohort, councils will need to consider whether access to homelessness assistance is necessary to avoid a Charter breach in cases where they are considering a 'not eligible' decision. If they determine a 'not eligible' decision would be a Charter breach, they must find the applicant eligible for homelessness assistance under Part VII of the Housing Act 1996 until the duty ends in line with the homelessness legislation.

Key Issues for Homelessness Services

If you are a non-specialist homelessness service working with non-UK nationals or developing your offer to this group you may want to consider the following issues:

Working with your LA and other specialist organisations

It will be helpful for homelessness organisations supporting migrants to make links with their LA and other specialist services that may exist in the area, to build relationships,

improve your local knowledge and raise awareness of any particular insights from your service. The LA may have specific forums for those working with non-UK nationals or local issues may be discussed through more general Homelessness Fora. There may be local groups which involve **Strategic Migration Partnerships** (SMPs)¹⁹. SMPs are formal LA-led partnerships which provide structures and forums of engagement for effectively responding to migration at a local, regional, and national level. SMPs work to meet the needs of national and local governments and local communities. There are 12 SMP's in the UK.

Service eligibility and NRPF

Organisations can often take an overly cautious approach to working with clients with restricted eligibility - due to a lack of understanding of different types of immigration status and entitlements. Whether your service can help clients who have restricted entitlements will depend on a number of factors – including whether you have LA funding that may impose restrictions on supporting NRPF clients and whether you are providing free services such as drop in/day centre provision or residential projects where Housing Benefit/UC Housing Costs needs to be claimed.

As mentioned earlier, whilst LAs can be restricted in what they can do directly for people with NRPF, they may still *commission* or fund voluntary organisations and advice agencies to provide services within their area which are accessible to people with NRPF. If you are funded by the LA, it will be helpful to clarify the terms and conditions of funding and explore ways in which some support can be given to people with NRPF. For example, services may be funded to work with specific groups, e.g., rough sleepers with a local connection. This could indirectly exclude people with NRPF who are less likely to have evidence of a local connection. It may be possible to seek to negotiate changes to these terms with the LA to include those with no local connection where they are destitute and have NRPF.

Where support and/or accommodation services are not funded by or commissioned by LA's there can be greater flexibility for providers. Services that are providing accommodation (including a small number of night shelters) often rely on Housing Benefit and therefore will often have to exclude or limit places for NRPF clients, but it may be possible to reconfigure provision so that some accommodation is made available at no cost. Services operating with unrestricted funds, including many faith-based groups, and services with open access provision like day centres are often more able and willing to support people with NRPF. There are also a number of specialist community services dedicated to the support of destitute migrants, often primarily found in asylum dispersal areas and larger cities. Many of these projects are members of the No Accommodation Network (NACCOM), which publishes a list of services by region.²⁰

¹⁹ One example is the East of England SMP https://smp.eelga.gov.uk/

²⁰ See https://naccom.org.uk/projects/

Some organisations worry that they are breaking the law by supporting those who have no legal immigration status or not reporting someone to the Home Office who may have absconded detention, but this is not the case - there is no obligation on services to contact the Home Office and report them. There should be no legal barriers to providing free housing to migrants with no immigration status.

The Joseph Rowntree Foundation report 'How to improve support and services for destitute migrants' further explores legal issues for organisations in providing support and services for this group.²¹

Homelessness services should be aware of the needs in their areas, including those with no recourse and it is the role of homelessness services to make the case for reconfiguring their provision in response to the needs of clients, including those with NRPF. There are a range of independent funders, including large trusts and foundations that provide charitable grants to fund this type of support.²²

Collecting and storing immigration status information

As a service provider, you will have policies and processes in place for how you collect and store information about clients accessing, or applying for, your services. The extent of personal information collected will depend on several things – including the type of service you provide, whether it is commissioned and if there are any specific eligibility conditions that might need to be assessed.

Careful consideration needs to be given to seeking information about immigration status and this should only be done where it is considered necessary and must be done in line with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the UK General Data Protection Requirement (GDPR)²³. Questions may need to include asking about identity and immigration documents (e.g. from Home Office, DWP, Housing Benefit, Local Authority, solicitors or HMRC). As with all client data, informed consent should be obtained to record and store information and share it with other named services. There must always be a 'lawful basis' for collecting, storing or sharing personal data and this should be clearly set out in your privacy notice. Where you are seeking information, it is crucial to approach this sensitively, conscious of the individual's potential fear of immigration enforcement or other consequences. As an organisation, you should have a policy on your approach to sharing information with the Home Office and it may be useful to communicate this to the client at an early stage. If your policy is not to share information with the Home Office, then it may be helpful for your clients to be aware of this at an early stage. People with NRPF may be reluctant to engage with services for fear of their information being shared with immigration enforcement leading to their detention and removal. They may believe that all agencies, including charities and NHS services, report

²¹ See https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-improve-support-and-services-destitute-migrants

²² These include Joseph Rowntree Charitable Trust, Oak Foundation, Open Society Foundations, and the Paul Hamlyn Foundation

²³ The Information Commissioners Office (ICO) provides more information on the DPA and UK GDPR https://ico.org.uk/fororganisations/guide-to-data-protection/

to the Home Office and may choose to avoid the support that is available and find alternative means of survival.

Contact with the Home Office

In some cases, where clients are unsure of their immigration status, taking steps to support them to obtain clarification of their status and specifically whether they have restrictions on access to public funds, might be in their best interests. Someone could face the prospect of long-term destitution until steps are taken to resolve their status. It may be possible to clarify someone's status by making contact with their current or previous legal advisor or solicitor who may be able to confirm their status.

Where this is not possible, it may be necessary to consider contacting the Home Office. However, possible consequences of the Home Office becoming aware of a migrant's presence in the UK when they have no current immigration permission could be that enforcement action is undertaken. They may be detained, asked to undergo redocumentation procedures, served removal directions or issued with reporting instructions to attend an immigration centre on a regular basis. Any steps towards supporting someone to contact the Home Office should, therefore, be based on robust procedures around informed consent ideally along with advice from an OISC registered immigration advisor or solicitor prior to the individual agreeing.²⁴

For non-specialist services, we recommend that any decision to contact the Home Office is reviewed by a manager in the organisation (given the serious potential outcome of that contact). When considering what might constitute informed consent from the individual it may be that, given the complexity of the system, an individual's consent might not be considered 'fully informed' without the advice of an OISC registered adviser or immigration solicitor.

There are different ways of approaching the Home Office to check a person's status. For people who are rough sleeping, one option is to use the Homelessness Escalation Service²⁵ (see section above on the HES). Contact can also be made with the Home Office in other ways, including in some cases an online enquiry with consent of the individual. Under the Data Protection Act 1998, a migrant can request a copy of their Home Office file providing they can supply sufficient evidence of their identity. This is called a 'subject access request' and can be particularly helpful when a person has a complex or unclear immigration history, as well as being useful for a legal representative.²⁶ Making a subject access request is best done with a legal advisor.

²⁴ Individual immigration advice is regulated; advisers (other than solicitors, barristers and legal executives) must be registered or exempted by the Office of Immigration Services Commission, see https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-ofthe-immigration-services-commissioner

²⁵ https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homelessness-escalations-service-hes

²⁶ See www.gov.uk/government/publications/requests-for-personal-data-uk-visas-and-immigration

Note that, at times, the Home Office can have difficulties in finding the details about a client on their system because of spelling errors or because the last contact that they had with the Home Office was prior to systems being digitised. Conversely, sometimes new information may take time to be updated on the system – which can lead to perceived inaccuracies in data. It is also worth noting that, in some instances e.g., Windrush cases,²⁷ the absence of Home Office records does not necessarily mean a person has no status. For example, their arrival may have pre-dated this type of record-keeping.

Do I need to tell the Home Office about someone who does not have permission to be in the UK?

There is no obligation to report clients to the Home Office who do not have current permission to stay in the country. Indeed, services should be aware that doing so risks undermining trust in their services among migrant communities that might need their help.

Home Office 'signing on' requirements

Individuals in contact with the Home Office, may be required to sign on at an immigration reporting centre²⁸. If instructions are issued it is very important that the person complies with them, or risk being treated as an absconder and liable to detention. Services can liaise with Home Office Immigration, Compliance and Enforcement Teams²⁹ to help clients to establish whether they are subject to requirements and support them to keep to the terms of any agreement (but note information above on informed consent). This should reduce the risk of detention and avoid negatively affecting future applications.

Service accessibility

Organisations that provide homelessness services to non-UK nationals or are looking to develop their offer, should ensure their services are welcoming, accessible, and responsive to the needs of these groups. The following may be helpful in considering this:

Language translation and interpreting

Offer spoken and written information in multiple languages wherever possible, including in the native language of clients using your service and of local communities. Check with local migrant organisations if they have anything already produced or are willing to help you with translations. Language Line³⁰ is one example of a company that offers a professional interpreting service for a fee.

²⁷ The Windrush Help Team

https://windrush.campaign.gov.uk/?utm_campaignwindrush&utm_mediumsearch&utm_sourcebing

²⁸ For more information on this see https://righttoremain.org.uk/toolkit/detention/ and also note there may be temporary suspensions on signing due to COVID-19

²⁹ 0 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/contact-details-for-immigration-compliance-and-enforcement-teams/contactdetails-for-immigration-compliance-and-enforcement-teams

³⁰ See https://www.languageline.com/uk/s/

Trauma and culturally informed services

Ensure that services offered, and those involved in delivering them, are trauma informed. Services should be sensitive both to peoples' experiences in the country they may have left and the re-traumatisation that many experience in retelling their stories. In particular, only ask about information that is needed and be transparent about the reasons why. Ensure individuals are empowered to identify the support most appropriate for them rather than making assumptions.

Reflecting your local community in your advertising and recruitment

Where needed, advertise your service with local community groups, migrant/refugee support services, places of worship (e.g., churches, mandirs, mosques, gurdwaras and synagogues) in relevant languages. Recruit volunteers and/or staff that are representative of the client group's gender, nationality, ethnicity and spoken languages. If you cannot fund official translation services, you could consider recruiting a small number of volunteers for translation as needed or working with a local migrant/refugee support organisation to do this.

Staff Training

Consider and review training of your front-line staff to include an overview of immigration status, entitlement to services and the range of options open to people to apply for status etc. Whilst basic training won't enable your staff to offer immigration advice it will develop greater awareness of when immigration advice is needed, what OISC accreditation³¹ means and how to make effective referrals.

Support with basic needs, accommodation, social care, health care and immigration advice

As a non-specialist service working with non-UK nationals, you may want to consider the range of ways you can support people. This could include helping with immediate basic needs for food and clothing if they are facing destitution, accommodation (even though these are limited), their health and care needs and in helping them to access immigration advice to address their immigration status. Non-specialist services can play an important role in supporting people alongside other specialist services, throughout what can be a lengthy process of immigration casework.

1. Basic Needs

People with restricted eligibility may be destitute or facing destitution. Homelessness services can support them to access emergency support to meet their basic needs, which could include advising and assisting with:

accessing local food banks³²

³¹ See https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-immigration-services-commissioner

³² See https://www.trusselltrust.org/get-help/find-a-foodbank/

- accessing basic support from day centres for hot drinks and meals, showers, laundry and clothing.
- making applications for short-term funding to alleviate basic destitution³³ e.g., travel, subsistence etc.
- accessing the nearest British Red Cross Destitution Centre, where refugees and vulnerable migrants can receive weekly support with emergency food parcels, cash, bus fares and toiletries³⁴.

Where possible, it could help to develop relationships and referral procedures with local organisations to ensure referrals can happen effectively and quickly.

Digital exclusion

People with restricted eligibility face barriers in making full use of the internet to access online help and support. For those experiencing digital exclusion, it can be helpful to consider what digital devices they own or have access to, their data plan, their access to the internet and where they can access Wi-Fi. There may be additional help they can access, including help with devices and data. Refugee Action has some guidance on helping with digital inclusion³⁵. The Good Things Foundation support a network of 'online centres' helping vulnerable and digitally excluded people to get online³⁶. They also offer Learn My Way, a comprehensive set of online resources to help people develop digital skills³⁷.

2. Accommodation needs

While people have NRPF, there are limited housing options available due to their lack of entitlement to Housing Benefit. Services can help by being aware of and, wherever possible, helping with access to rent-free accommodation options including:

Living with friends, family, or others

Many clients are accommodated by friends and family. Some clients may establish relationships in order to gain housing and support, however this creates a risk of exploitation. Services should be aware that if a person with NRPF, who is homeless, stays with an asylum seeker in Home Office accommodation, the asylum seeker's housing will be at risk if the housing provider finds out.

Free bed spaces in supported housing schemes or hostels

There are a small number of accommodation providers that house people with NRPF rent-free, either short or long term. This type of provision is not available in all areas, but services should check with local accommodation providers in case they can offer space to NRPF clients (e.g., bed spaces paid for by funding streams other than Housing

³³ Grant options can be found using sites such as Turn2US https://grants-search.turn2us.org.uk/

³⁴ See https://www.redcross.org.uk/get-help/get-help-as-a-refugee

³⁵ https://www.ragp.org.uk/guidance/digital-inclusion/home

³⁶ https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/our-network/

^{37 &}lt;u>https://www.goodthingsfoundation.org/learn/learn-my-way/</u>

Benefit). Some refuges for victims of domestic abuse may have beds available for women with NRPF on this basis.

Night shelters and Severe Weather Emergency Protocol (SWEP) provision

Severe weather or winter emergency accommodation schemes should offer beds to NRPF clients. Pre COVID-19, this provision would have mainly been in night shelters, but this provision has diversified and can include single rooms and even self-contained accommodation. Services that are commissioned or funded by LAs as SWEP (Severe Weather Emergency Provision³⁸) or RSI (Rough Sleeper Initiative) can legitimately be used for people with restricted eligibility.

Hosting and spare room networks

Hosting and spare room networks have been established in some areas. This accommodation is provided usually on a rent-free basis. The National No Accommodation Network (NACCOM) website includes a map of projects, many of which offer hosting as well as other accommodation³⁹. The charity Housing Justice also operates a pan London hosting project⁴⁰.

Hosting schemes are likely to be short term, with clients moving between hosts. Schemes may only support clients where there is strong probability that the client's situation will change, for example using hosting as an interim measure while a legal case is in process. This may act as an incentive for some people to seek legal representation and clarify their immigration status and options.

Rooms in shared houses with support

There are some projects across the UK that provide accommodation for people with NRPF in shared houses. A small number of NRPF beds may be set aside which are rent free or at lower rent levels than other rooms. The rental income on the other rooms effectively subsidises the NRPF beds. There is usually some support provided in the form of day-to-day humanitarian support and help to access to immigration advice and support with living independently. Information on these types of schemes may be available through NACCOMM⁴¹.

Advice and Support from LA Housing Options Services

Local authorities have a duty to provide advice and information to people with NRPF (either directly or through a commissioned provider). This advice should include what provision there may be locally to prevent their homelessness and how to access this provision. The following are two extracts taken from guidance for LAs on exercising their homelessness functions in accordance with the Housing Act 1996 (as amended)⁴²:

³⁸ For guidance on cold weather and SWEP provision see https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/guidance-on-cold-weather-provision-swep-and-heatwaves/

³⁹ http://naccom.org.uk/

⁴⁰ https://housingjustice.org.uk/hosting-project

⁴¹ http://naccom.org.uk/

⁴² See: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/homelessness-code-of-guidance-for-local-authorities

Chapter 3: Advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of homelessness

3.1 Housing authorities have a duty to provide, or secure the provision of, advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of homelessness, free of charge. These services will form part of the offer to applicants who are also owed other duties under Part 7, for example the prevention and relief duties. They must also be available to any other person in their district, including people who are not eligible for further homelessness services as a result of their immigration status. The provision of up to date, comprehensive, tailored advice and information will play an important part in delivering the housing authority's strategy for preventing homelessness.

Chapter 7: Eligibility for assistance

7.2 Housing authorities have a duty to provide, or secure the provision of, advice and information about homelessness and the prevention of homelessness, free of charge which must be available to any person in their district. All applicants, including those who are ineligible as a result of their immigration status, will be able to access this form of assistance from the housing authority. Housing authorities should refer applicants to appropriate support which they may be entitled to where relevant.

Private renting & Right to Rent Checks

The private rented sector is unlikely to be a realistic housing option whilst someone has no entitlement to Housing Benefit. The Immigration Act 2014 introduced the 'Right to Rent' requirements, which places a duty on all UK landlords to check the immigration status of every potential tenant.

Private renting tenants, who themselves have a right to rent, are not permitted to sublet a room to someone who does not have a right to rent. People are not required to undertake checks when they have house guests, such as friends or family members, who are not paying rent and are not living in the accommodation as their only or main home.

These restrictions do not apply to accommodation in hostels, refuges, hospitals and hospices provided by LAs or provided by the Home Office under its duties towards asylum seekers, or to some student accommodation.

In some circumstances the Home Secretary can grant 'permission to rent', which is usually provided in a range of exceptional circumstances; families with one or more children under the age of 18 who are cooperating with the Home Office's family returns processes; those on bail (either criminal or immigration bail); those within the Home Office's voluntary departure process; victims of trafficking or slavery and individuals with an outstanding out of time initial asylum claim, or an outstanding appeal against such a claim.

3. Social Care Needs

Homelessness services may be able to support people to access help from LA social care services (also referred to as adult social care or social services). Social services support is not a public fund for immigration purposes, so a person with NRPF having eligible care and support needs under the Care Act 2014 could access support and in some cases accommodation (where it's necessary to meet the care needs). They should not be refused assistance on the sole ground that they have NRPF. However, there are exclusions based on a person's nationality or immigration status, which mean that some migrants may only be able to get support from social services if this is necessary to prevent a breach of their human rights. If an adult destitute migrant you are working with has a physical disability, illness or mental health condition, it is worth discussing with them whether they wish to be referred to social services. The LA is responsible for meeting the care needs of an adult who is ordinarily resident in their area (i.e. they have taken up residence in the area on a voluntary and settled basis) or an adult who has no place of settled residence and is present in the area. However, establishing this may not be easy when a migrant has been homeless for a period of time. Where ordinary residence is unclear or disputed, a LA has the power to meet urgent needs and must do so without delay. If the LA does not accept a referral to undertake an assessment or makes a decision to refuse or withdraw support, the client will need to be referred for legal advice from a solicitor specialising in community care law. Some law centres may be able to assist with such matters. Detailed guidance on social care for adults with NRPF is available on the website of the NRPF network⁴³ although further summary information is set out below.

The Care Act eligibility and LA powers and duties

When a person with NRPF requests support under the Care Act 2014, they will be subject to the same assessment process and eligibility criteria as anyone else requesting care and support. The LA must carry out an assessment when a referred adult has an appearance of need and they must determine whether they have eligible needs and, if so, how these needs will be met. If the adult requires an independent advocate, because they lack capacity to make their own decisions, the LA must ensure the advocate is appointed throughout the entire assessment process. The LA has the power to meet urgent needs for care and support before an assessment has been completed. Therefore, if the person is street homeless or at risk of homelessness, it is helpful to provide evidence of this if available.

LA's will need to establish the migrant's immigration status and will usually check this directly with the Home Office. LAs are obliged to inform the Home Office of anyone requesting support from social services who is living in the UK in breach of immigration laws or a refused asylum seeker who has failed to cooperate with removal directions.

⁴³ See https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/support-options-for-people-withnrpf/social-services-support-for-adults

An adult will have eligible needs if:

- (i) their needs arise from, or are related to, a physical or mental impairment or illness.
- (ii) as a result of their needs, the adult is unable to achieve two or more specified outcomes (e.g. maintaining personal hygiene, managing and maintaining nutrition, accessing and engaging in work, training, education or volunteering, making use of necessary facilities or services in the local community including public transport, and recreational facilities or services):
- (iii) as a consequence, there is, or is likely to be, a significant impact on the adult's well-being.

When an adult has eligible needs, this does not mean a person with NRPF will receive accommodation - the LA may only be required to provide accommodation when the care and support that the migrant requires is normally administered in a home environment, or would be effectively useless if the migrant had no home. When a LA determines that an adult has eligible needs that must be met by the provision of accommodation, it may provide any type of accommodation, for example, care home accommodation or a private tenancy. This may be provided outside of the LA area.

When a LA determines that an adult does not have eligible needs, then it must consider whether a power under the Care Act 2014 to meet non-eligible care and support needs can be used, and if not, provide the person with information and advice about how to reduce their needs for care and support. For migrants with NRPF this should include information relevant to their needs.

The LA is not required to meet needs of migrants who have no immigration permission or who have leave to remain with the NRPF condition, when the needs have arisen solely because the adult is destitute or due to the physical effects of destitution. In these circumstances, they are excluded from being able to receive support or assistance under the Care Act 2014⁴⁴. However, given that the eligibility criteria are tied to "needs arising from or related to a physical or mental impairment or illness", this is unlikely to apply unless the LA determines that destitution is the sole cause of the illness/impairment. When a migrant is in an excluded group, the LA is not prevented from assessing need, or meeting urgent needs while an assessment is being carried out.

When a migrant requesting assistance from a LA is in an excluded group, the LA will need to undertake a 'human rights assessment' to establish whether the person can return to their country of origin in order to avoid a breach of human rights that may arise if the person remains destitute in the UK. This will involve identifying whether there are any legal barriers or practical obstacles preventing return, for example a pending human rights application made to the Home Office or human rights appeal, inability to

⁴⁴ Schedule 3 of the Nationality Immigration and Asylum Act 2002. More information is available at https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/support-options-for-people-with-nrpf/socialservices-support-for-adults/when-does-the-exclusion-apply

travel due to illness or medical condition or inability to obtain travel or identity documents. If there is such a barrier preventing the person from returning to their country of origin, then the LA will be required to provide assistance if the person has eligible needs under the Care Act 2014, but it will regularly review the situation.

If the person can freely return to their country of origin, the LA may only offer to provide assistance with travel to that country and support while their return is arranged. If the adult is in an excluded group and the LA has undertaken a human rights assessment which establishes that they can return to their country of origin to avoid a breach of human rights, the LA will not have a duty to meet eligible needs. The LA may therefore offer the adult assistance to return to their country of origin and support while this is arranged.

Section 117 aftercare provided under the Mental Health Act 1983

Section 117 of the Mental Health Act 1983 requires aftercare services to be provided to patients who have been detained in hospital, when they leave hospital, either immediately or sometime after they have been discharged.

Aftercare can be provided to a person who has been detained under one of the following sections of the Mental Health Act 1983: Section 3 (detained in hospital for treatment, a hospital order made under sections 37 or 45A (ordered to go to hospital by a court), Sections 47 or 48 (transferred from prison to hospital). Aftercare services must be provided free of charge and are not subject to any immigration exclusions, so nationality and immigration status are not factors that affect whether a person can be provided with aftercare under section 117. Aftercare can include the provision of accommodation, if this is required for the purpose of meeting a need arising directly from, or related to the patient's mental disorder and will help to reduce the risk of their mental condition deteriorating. Therefore, supported accommodation may be provided as part of an aftercare package. If supported accommodation is not required as part of an aftercare package, the LA would need to establish whether there is any duty to provide accommodation under the Care Act 2014.

Social services' support for care leavers with NRPF

If you are working with a young migrant with NRPF, it will be important to ask if they have ever been looked after by a LA as a child. In such cases, leaving care duties may apply, and you will need to find out on what basis any support received was ended. If it is unclear what duties may apply, the young person may be able to get specialist advice from Coram Migrant Children's Project and may need to be signposted to a specialist solicitor. Leaving care duties apply when a young person has been looked after by the LA under section 20 of the Children Act 1989 for a period of at least 13 weeks before they are 18 years old. Leaving care duties include:

 accommodation and financial support up to age 21, or 25 if the care leaver is following a programme of education or training.

• advice and assistance from a personal adviser, on request, for all care leavers from 21 until they turn 25 years old (this does not include accommodation and financial support)

When a care leaver is age 18 or older and is in an excluded group, provision of the support listed above is subject to a human rights assessment.

4. Health Needs

Homelessness services can support people with restricted eligibility to access health services if they have healthcare needs or wish to receive vaccinations. NHS care is not a public fund for immigration purposes, therefore a person with restricted entitlement is not excluded from access. However, there are some (mainly secondary care) NHS services which are chargeable to certain groups of migrants⁴⁵.

Health services that are free to all migrants and should not be subject to immigration checks include:

- Registration and care from a GP practice.
- COVID-19 Vaccinations
- Emergency care, i.e., Accident & Emergency services up to the point of being accepted as an inpatient.
- Treatment provided in a walk-in centre.
- Treatment provided in a minor injuries unit.
- Diagnosis and treatment for certain communicable diseases (tuberculosis, cholera, food poisoning, malaria, meningitis and pandemic influenza, COVID-19, and HIV).
- Family planning services (excluding pregnancy termination).
- Diagnosis and treatment of sexually transmitted infections.
- Treatment of a physical or mental condition caused by torture, female genital mutilation, domestic violence, or sexual violence when the patient has not travelled to the UK for the purpose of seeking such treatment.

It is important to note that, while the health services above are free, there can still be significant barriers to accessing them. These can include the lack of ID, inability to provide proof of address documents and language barriers. The charity Doctors of the World UK produce useful translated guidance and a national helpline that supports migrants to access NHS services or to challenge wrongful charging⁴⁶. NHS England has produced leaflets to help different groups of people, including people who are homeless,

⁴⁵ 6 For further detailed information see: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/nhs-entitlements-migrant-health-guide and a Toolkit for the NHS Charging Regulations JCWI & Doctors of the World:

 $[\]underline{https://www.jcwi.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=a9b8ccbd-6246-422b-9f80-6cf89716efa6}$

⁴⁶ See www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/

asylum seekers and refugees, to register with a GP. The charity Groundswell also produce resources and leaflets that may be useful⁴⁷

Some groups are automatically entitled to free **NHS prescriptions.** These include those who are 60 or over, or pregnant women. Others can apply for exemption certificates that entitle them to free NHS prescriptions (where they have specific medical conditions for example). If none of the exemptions apply, a person who has a low income may be able to obtain full or partial help with prescription charges through the NHS Low Income Scheme⁴⁸.

Secondary (hospital) care

Treatment provided by a hospital, including out-patient services and in-patient treatment provided following a presentation at A&E, is chargeable to certain migrants. Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) guidance on charging is extremely complex,⁴⁹ the Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants (JCWI) and Doctors of the World have produced detailed information and toolkits on NHS charging which may be useful⁵⁰.

Out of the NRPF client group, those that are subject to charging will include:

- Visa over-stayers.
- People who have entered the country illegally.
- Refused asylum seekers who are not being provided with accommodation by the Home Office or LA under the Care Act 2014.
- Visitors with leave to enter for a period of six months or less

If a clinician determines that a migrant needs chargeable treatment that is 'urgent' or 'immediately necessary', then this must be provided without payment upfront, but the person will still be liable for the cost of the treatment and an NHS debt may therefore be accrued. Debts are then reported to the Home Office. DHSC provides the NHS with financial incentives for charging overseas visitors, and so hospitals are increasingly routinely checking the nationality and immigration status of patients, sharing information with the Home Office and pursuing debts that are accrued.

DHSC's charging guidance (referred to above) states that the NHS may write off a debt for accounting purposes only – which does not mean attempts will never be made to recover it – when "given the NHS chargeable patients financial circumstances, it would

⁴⁷ See www.nhs.uk/using-the-nhs/nhs-services/gps/how-to-register-with-a-gp-practice/ and https://www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/what-we-stand-for/advocacy/access-to-primary-care/ and https://groundswell.org.uk/

⁴⁸ See https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/nhs-treatment/prescriptions-dentalcare-and-sight-tests#quide-sections and

https://www.jcwi.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=a9b8ccbd-6246-422b-9f80- 6cf89716efa6 and https://www.nhs.uk/nhs-services/prescriptions-and-pharmacies/nhs-prescription-charges/

⁴⁹ https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/nhs-visitor-and-migrant-cost-recovery-programme

⁵⁰ https://www.jcwi.org.uk/nhs-charging-toolkits

not be cost effective to pursue it (e.g. they are a destitute illegal migrant or are genuinely without access to any funds or other resources to pay their debt)." If a migrant accrues an NHS debt of £500 or more then this could lead to an application for leave to remain being refused.

Unfortunately, due to the complexity of the charging guidance hospitals can sometimes apply the rules incorrectly, and charge or refuse treatment to individuals who should be entitled to receive it or are exempt. Doctors of the World or a community care solicitor may be able to help clients to challenge charging decisions.

Immigration Health Surcharge

Migrants applying for limited leave to remain in the UK will need to pay an 'Immigration Health Surcharge' on top of the application fee in order to gain access to NHS treatment⁵¹. Applications will not be accepted without this payment, although there are some exemptions, and the Home Office has advised that those qualifying for an application fee waiver will not be required to pay the Immigration Health Surcharge.

5. Immigration Advice Needs

Services can also consider how they can best support and engage with clients to help them resolve their immigration status (thereby allowing them to access public funds) or return to their home country. In both cases, the individual must have suitable immigration advice/representation to support them through these processes so the role a non-specialist service can play will be limited. Many clients you see will already have legal advisers and may need help to re-engage with them.

Specialist Immigration Advice

Individual immigration advice is regulated - advisers (other than solicitors, barristers and legal executives) must be registered or exempted by the Office of Immigration Services Commission⁵². As a non-specialist service provider you may want to build links with specialist OISC legal advisers and consider referral arrangements or be aware of the specialist advice that exists within the area.

Many of these specialist services are under considerable pressure due to increased demand and if you develop these links there may be ways you can assist the process and support the client and advisor with some aspects of their case. You could support the client to gather relevant evidence, for example evidence from people in their country of origin on the current situation or medical evidence from a specialist agency⁵³. Once a claim is in process, you might also be able to support the client to apply for Section 95 asylum support or Section 4 hardship support for example.

If clients don't have an adviser or solicitor, you could help the client to find someone who will take on their case (for a fresh asylum application or appeal, solicitors must

⁵¹ https://www.gov.uk/healthcare-immigration-application

 $^{^{52}\ \}underline{https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/office-of-the-immigration-services-commissioner}$

⁵³ For example https://www.freedomfromtorture.org/ or www.helenbamber.org

assess that the case has merit, and this opinion may vary between solicitors). Following the cuts to legal aid under the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012 (LASPO), the scope of legal aid provision is very limited. Most immigration applications are out of scope - legal aid will normally only be available for asylum, those risking inhuman or degrading treatment on return (e.g., those with very serious health issues) and to victims of domestic violence or modern slavery, but these exceptions are narrowly drafted. The Law Society website has more information about what is in scope of legal aid⁵⁴.

If a person's case is not covered by Legal Aid, then it still may be possible to apply for **exceptional funding**⁵⁵. This is available to people who have a strong case and whose human rights would be breached if they did not receive Legal Aid.

For cases where no Legal Aid is available, there may be some Citizen Advice Bureaus (CABs), law centres or other organisations able to assist under other project funding, or able to give second tier advice. There are several free advice lines to get initial immigration advice as well as suggestions on where to get representation if needed (e.g., Praxis, Asylum Aid, Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants, Rights of Women).

Support to return/reconnection

Homelessness services could consider providing information on return options and how to access further support with this. It will be important to help the client consider whether the route of return that a person is offered is appropriate, particularly if the individual is vulnerable. Services could also support clients to contact family and friends in their country of origin, for example via the Red Cross tracing and messaging services or support clients to research the situation in their country of origin and find local agencies that could help them to return and integrate. The Home Office operates a voluntary returns service (see earlier section).

⁵⁴ www.lawsociety.org.uk/for-the-public/paying-for-legal-services/legal-aid/.

⁵⁵ See https://www.gov.uk/guidance/legal-aid-apply-for-exceptional-case-funding and https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/legal-aid/exceptional-case-funding

Why don't people return to their country of origin?

People with NRPF may have lived in the UK for a long time, or even have been born here, establishing social networks and relationships that would be hard to leave behind. It is possible for people to have lived and worked here for many years before their circumstances change, and they may no longer have links to their country of origin. Also, due to the government imposition of re-entry bans and increasingly restrictive entry requirements, the likelihood of being able to return to the UK is often correctly perceived as being very slim. Refused asylum seekers may still fear persecution in their country of origin and could face torture, imprisonment, or death on return. While the Home Office might have refused asylum on the basis that their 'home' country is safe, clients may have well-founded reasons to think that destitution in the UK is preferable to returning there.

Voluntary return to some countries is problematic, and circumstances are continually changing. If a country's embassy closes in the UK, if there is no safe route back to a country or if the domestic situation deteriorates, it may not be possible to facilitate return, even when someone wants to go back. Section 4 hardship support should still be an option in these cases.

Some undocumented migrants and refused asylum seekers struggle to prove their country of origin. Since 2013, the UK has had a statelessness determination procedure which may be appropriate for some people,1 and which, if successful, results in a renewable grant of leave for up to five years, with the right to work and access to benefits.

Migrants with NRPF who experience domestic abuse

People who have leave to enter or remain as the spouse/civil partner/unmarried partner/same sex partner of a settled person (British citizen or person with indefinite leave to remain) are subject to the NRPF condition. If their relationship breaks down due to domestic abuse, they may be able to apply for indefinite leave to remain (ILR) and access to public funds. Where a person intending to do this is destitute, they can apply for three months' limited leave, which if granted will allow recourse to public funds. This will give them time to make such applications and enable them to apply as homeless and access benefits while the application is being considered by the Home Office. This is called the Domestic Violence Destitution Concession⁵⁶

It is important that people in this situation receive good legal advice before making either application to check that this is the most appropriate option for them. **Legal aid**

⁵⁶ See https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/information-and-resources/rights-and-entitlements/support-options-for-people-withnrpf/immigration-options/destitution-domestic-violence-concession#guide-sections

is available for the ILR application but not for the concession. The concession does not apply to survivors of domestic abuse who do not have leave to enter or remain as the spouse/civil partner/unmarried partner/same sex partner of a settled person. If they have no children with them, their support options will be extremely limited, as there are very few refuge spaces available for migrants with NRPF. However, some local authorities may exercise their power under the Care Act 2014 to support a particularly vulnerable victim of domestic abuse who has no children or eligible care and support needs. The national charity, Refuge, operates a 24-hour national domestic abuse helpline⁵⁷. It uses the services of Language Line to provide access to interpreters for non-English-speaking callers.

Women with NRPF facing gender-based violence can apply to the Southall Black Sisters 'No Recourse Fund' which offers limited short-term support for rent and living costs. This is a national fund so applications can come from anywhere in the UK⁵⁸.

Victims of modern slavery

Some migrants experiencing homelessness and destitution may be victims of modern slavery. Specific agencies that come into contact with victims are expected to notify the Home Office of potential cases through the National Referral Mechanism (NRM). NRM is a framework for identifying and referring potential victims of modern slavery and (with consent) ensuring they receive the appropriate support. This can include safe house accommodation, financial support and a support worker to help with access to wider services including, but not limited to, health and mental health services, translation, and legal representation including immigration advice.

Alternatively, victims could be referred to other independent specialist organisations such as the charity. Unseen which also operates the modern slavery & exploitation helpline⁵⁹, and ATLEU⁶⁰.

This document is intended for general guidance only – if a support worker or individual needs help or advice with an immigration related matter then they should always seek specialist advice from a provider approved by the Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner (OISC).

⁵⁷ https://www.refuge.org.uk/get-help-now/phone-the-helpline/

⁵⁸ https://southallblacksisters.org.uk/no-recourse-fund/

⁵⁹ https://www.modernslaveryhelpline.org/

⁶⁰ https://atleu.org.uk/

Case Studies: Supporting Non-UK Nationals facing homelessness

About these case studies

These case studies provide examples of how partners in five areas of the country are working together to support people experiencing homelessness who have restricted eligibility to public funds due to their immigration statuses. If you have other examples or resources to share, please contact: joanna.turner@homelesslink.org.uk

Produced by

The National Practice Development Team with funding from the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, and the Policy and Research team, with funding from the Lloyds Bank Foundation.

With thanks to

Bradford Council, Islington Borough Council, Lewisham Law Centre, Lewisham Council, the Oxfordshire Homeless Movement partnership and Reading Borough Council

Published

December 2021

Case Study: Bradford Council and partners

The local context

During the operation of Everyone In (Mar 20 – Oct 21) Bradford Council supported just under 150 people with restrictions due to immigration status, from rough sleeping into emergency accommodation. Approximately 30% of individuals were from the EU. Before COVID-19, this cohort was relatively hidden to outreach teams; the intelligence being that many were living and working in car washes, takeaways as well as sofa surfing.

The lockdown forced many of these people on to the street and the knowledge of Everyone In soon spread within the cohort who became more accepting of support. Many of these individuals had the following circumstances which prevented or delayed successful move on from the Everyone In emergency provision:

- Relatively new to the UK preventing Settled Status;
- Cash in hand, unlicensed work car washes etc.;
- Criminal convictions delaying Home Office decisions;
- Drug and alcohol use, mental health needs or other health issues preventing access to employment;
- Lack of move on accommodation following closure of Everyone In for those still destitute.

The approach taken

A number of steps were taken by Bradford Council to improve the support available, and outcomes, for this group. This included:

- Using NSAP funding to commission a local charity that specialises in supporting people with restrictions due to immigration status, to provide specific and tailored support to individuals;
- Working in partnership with the DWP, which enabled UC claims to be fast tracked once Settled Status was obtained;
- Working with local colleges and employment/training support agencies to support people around language skills, training and employment;
- Increasing tailored support with immigration applications through online Home Office surgeries. Attendance of an immigration advisor and support organisations was an important element of these sessions in order to safeguard individuals from any potential risk. The surgeries, focussing on Settled Status applications, enabled resolution of more complicated applications and were developed with support of DLUHC advisors.);
- Specialist support agencies (drug and alcohol, mental health etc...) provided outreach support to people in their accommodation which improved access to specialist support for EU nationals. These charities employ people who speak a range of languages;

- The Private Sector Team within Housing Options recruited private landlords to place individuals with low needs into housing at the same costs as B&B accommodation funded by the council. This created a "try before you buy" scenario with these placements converting to ASTs on LHA rate once the individual had obtained settled status and/or was in employment. 24 individuals were placed and 14 of these converted to ASTs;
- Led a call to action for commissioned providers and social landlords to accommodate people with limited eligibility once Everyone In ended. There was a 12 month agreement, to allow time for Settled Status to be granted, for the provision of free units of accommodation for individuals whose applications were progressing and those who had lower need to allow for throughput. The council funded further support from reserves for additional costs such as utility bills, furniture, destitute payments, rent in advance to assist with move on etc.;
- The accommodation providers have pledged up to 10 free units for a further 12 month period. These are offered to individuals who are engaging and have a good chance of achieving settled status so there is throughput for others to benefit. Those with more complex cases will be able to access this offer over time, and funding for reconnection is also available.

Partnership working, services provided on an outreach basis, and delivering personcentred support were identified as key factors in the success of the approach taken.

Partners Involved

The council has worked with a number of partner agencies to deliver the activity outlined above, including:

- Hope Housing support agency for clients with restrictions due to immigration status
- DWP, Bradford College, Skills House -training and employment support
- Home Office delivered specific advice and support surgeries
- Bevan Healthcare, CGL specialist support outreach for health needs, drug and alcohol use
- Salvation Army, Manningham HA, Accent Housing, Bridge-It Housing, Dioceses of Leeds – provided free units of accommodation

Outcomes

- 139 NRPF placements under Everyone In
- 71 individuals supported with achieving Settled Status
- 22 individuals supported into education and training
- 14 individuals supported into securing employment
- 6 Non-EU individuals supported into asylum seeker accommodation and support with applications to the Home Office

Further Info

A case study of the support provided by Hope Housing for non-UK nationals sleeping rough can be found on pages 31-32:

https://www.feantsa.org/public/user/Good_Practices_in_Supporting_Homeless_Mobile_ EU_Citizens.pdf

Case Study: Islington Borough Council

The local context

Given the complexity of working with people who do not have settled immigration status in the UK, Islington Council identified the need for specialist interventions to enact statutory 'safety-net' duties effectively and then to minimise accommodation and subsistence costs through case resolution. The council hosts the NRPF Network and operates the NRPF Connect database, which provides data and policy support for their own work, whilst also helping other local authorities correctly implement their safeguarding responsibilities to families, adults and children with no recourse to public funds (NRPF).

In Islington, the response for non-UK nationals at risk of homelessness is shaped by having a dedicated NRPF, Refugee and Migrant Service to manage the statutory response under the Care Act 2014 and Children Act 1989. In addition the NRPF service and prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, a specialist NRPF Outreach Officer was also recruited to work with non UK national rough sleepers. The specialist response has been supported both by Rough Sleeping Initiative (RSI) funding and the council's own expenditure on NRPF caseloads (i.e. accommodation and subsistence provision) and staffing. The pandemic led to the provision of more tailored support to residents and closer working arrangements between homelessness outreach teams and the NRPF service.

Islington Council aims to create a more equal borough where everyone can achieve their full potential in life and has also passed a motion to become a <u>Borough of Sanctuary</u> through the City of Sanctuary scheme. The corporate direction of the council informs the approach taken when working to end homelessness, with investment in NRPF services being seen as part of this wider strategic response.

The approach taken

Islington have taken several steps to provide improved responses to people with NRPF in their area. These include:

- Making use of grant funding related to COVID-19 recovery and initiatives to end rough sleeping to increase casework capacity
- Working with the housing department to commission cost-effective and suitable accommodation that can be used to provide stability in urgent cases where statutory interventions are needed
- Investing in specialist teams including caseworkers within the Council who oversee individual cases and connect people with other specialist services such as immigration advisers, domestic violence support organisations or other avenues of assistance, such as asylum support

- Ensuring statutory assessments under the Care Act 2014 and Children Act 1989 are completed by colleagues in adult social service and children's services to determine eligibility for financial assistance
- Using NRPF Connect to support casework delivery by 1) monitoring caseloads, spend and resolution rates and evidencing on-going cost pressures when statutory safeguarding responsibilities are engaged 2) working with the Home Office to expedite decision-making and to fulfil the government's stated commitment to treat local authority supported cases with priority 3) tracking where people are in the immigration journey in order to make informed referrals to immigration advisors
- Commissioning immigration advice provision from OISC registered organisations to help manage complex case and in recognition of the pressure on advice services in Islington who must operate
- Raising subsistence rates from 47-54% of Universal Rates (UC) to 62% of a UC equivalent (with additional costs such as utility bills met directly by the NRPF service), following an internal review and corporate agreement that the increase was consistent with the objective of reducing poverty.

A Corporate Response

In March 2020, Islington established a Humanitarian Housing Response to ensure people who were homeless and rough sleeping were accommodated during the pandemic. This enabled them to upscale existing processes for NRPF households.

In June 2021 a formal report was submitted to the Corporate Members Board / Chief Executive recommending the following:

- > To continue providing accommodation and subsistence support for 31 single adults until a sustainable solution is achieved (including applications to EUSS and the Home Office, or supported voluntary return)
- > To implement new cases summary and casework forms to help monitor case prioritisation
- > To prepare funds for further short-term accommodation for 'non eligible' NRPF cases encountered over the following 12 months

The above recommendations were formally agreed, allowing continuation of the Humanitarian Housing Response started in March 2020.

To sustain successful casework practices at a time of increased demand, an invest-to-save business case was made to the council for the recruitment of an additional NRPF caseworker for one year. The extra caseworker position helps to deliver the intensive

work needed to resolve cases and reduce spend (see 'types of support provided) and allowed a focus on 15 households that had – despite best efforts – been supported under social services' legislation for over 1000 days and at great expense to the council.

By August 2021, the NRPF Refugee and Migrant Service is again increasing its staffing establishment as part of achieving <u>Islington Council's pledge to accommodate 15 Afghan Families</u>, reflecting how new opportunities can help sustain the specialist response for refugee and migrants in Islington.

Outcomes and learning

The approach taken in Islington has reduced homelessness, and the numbers of people sleeping rough in the borough has already <u>decreased by 61%</u> (November 2019 to November 2020). From March 2020 to May 2021, 77 single adults with NRPF were accommodated through the Council's emergency COVID-19 housing response. In addition, a further 57 households were supported under the Care Act 2014 and the Children Act 1989. As has been found by many local authorities, stability of accommodation coupled with good casework enabled sustainable outcomes to be achieved in the majority of cases closed. Reason for case closure reported in Islington are as follows:

- 1. Recourse to public funds being enabled (43% of cases closed)
- 2. People accessing asylum support (28%)
- 3. No longer eligible, including transfer to GLA hotels or people leaving the accommodation (20%)
- 4. Returning to country of origin (9%)

With the decision to provide continued support to people accommodated during the pandemic, the expenditure for NRPF support from Islington Council has increased making it a challenge to keep expenditure for families, adults with care and support needs and 'everyone in' cases within the £1.2 million per annum budget for accommodation and subsistence Islington council estimates, however, that the financial impact of continuing support to 31 'everyone in' cases in 2021-2022 can at least be reduced from £540,000 to £398,500 (conservative estimate) over-the-year through active case-resolution approaches.

The legislative framework under-which a local authority can provide 'safety net' support remains limited and has not been changed by the government despite the 'everyone in' response or the wider strategic objective of ending homelessness. The council therefore acknowledges that action being taken to continue support for this cohort is exceptional

and is grounded in a desire to see a return on money committed during the pandemic and efforts already made to engage with vulnerable people. The NRPF, Refugee and Migrant Service will therefore continue to review the approach taken over the course of 2021-2022 with a focus on helping those supported to make informed decisions about their future in the UK and to avoid a return to the streets.

Further Info

The NRPF network provides general information and guidance for local authorities on the rights and entitlements for people with NRPF, and published the 20-21 NRPF Connect data report and recommendations for central and local government: https://www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/

Further information from Islington Council on their services for people with NRPF:

Refugees and migrants PP | Islington Council | Islington Council

Nationality and Citizenship | Islington Council

RAMFEL (Refugee and Migrant Forum Essex and London):

www.ramfel.org.uk

Praxis:

https://www.praxis.org.uk/

Case Study: Lewisham Law Centre and Lewisham Council

The local Issue

Lewisham is a 'Borough of Sanctuary' and in 2021 became the country's first 'Council of Sanctuary'. As part of its Borough of Sanctuary Strategy, Lewisham Council has removed its embedded Home Office officer, pledged to not make referrals under the rough sleeping immigration rules with Homeless Link's Support Don't Deport campaign and promoted Doctors of the World's 'Safe Surgeries' initiative to improve access to GP services.

Lewisham Council had noted the dramatic increase in local authority spending occasioned by immigration reforms such as the 2012 imposition of the No Recourse to Public Funds (NRPF) restriction on Zambrano carers and the 'right to rent' restrictions imposed by the Immigration Act 2014.

Individuals and families with NRPF presenting as homeless to the Council required access to legal support to regularise their immigration status or lift the NRPF condition on their visas.

Steps taken to address this

Lewisham Law Centre

Lewisham Law Centre (LLC) is delivered via Southwark Law Centre (SLC) and comprises a solicitor (approx. £60,000 with on-costs) and a paralegal (approx. £40,000 with on-costs) working on immigration matters for Lewisham residents.

In May 2019, LLC entered into an agreement with Lewisham Council to take 30 referrals from the Council's NRPF team over the course of a year. This agreement allowed LLC to transfer its existing immigration solicitor from Southwark Law Centre to work full time on NRPF cases in Lewisham and hire a new immigration solicitor to work on the immigration caseload in Southwark.

The aims of the agreement with Lewisham Council are:

To assist destitute migrants to regularise their immigration status, giving them
access to employment, welfare benefits housing and improving their socioeconomic wellbeing.

• To assist those migrants with insecure immigration status whose cases are the most complex to make an application for leave to remain.

Within eight months, LLC's immigration solicitor had already taken the 30 referrals agreed to with the Council. By July 2020, LLC had taken on 25 additional immigration referrals and 13 'change of condition' referrals under a renewed contract.

Outcomes

From May 2019 to July 2020, LLC had achieved 16 successful immigration applications; one successful asylum claim; and two successful citizenship applications for children. A total of 15 clients also obtained access to public funds through their work.

Details of the cases progressed are as follows:

- 36 leave to remain cases on the basis of private/family life with 10 successful applications;
- 1 successful leave to remain case on the basis of health;
- 4 British national applications for children of which 2 were successful;
- 3 Asylum cases of which 1 was successful;
- 3 indefinite leave to remain cases following domestic violence, of which 2 were successful:
- 8 EU settled status cases of which 3 were successful;
- 21 'change of condition' cases of which 13 were successful, with a further 2 clients gaining access to public funds through other applications.

Impact on local authority spending

Using the letters showing confirmation of support (maintenance and accommodation) provided by Lewisham Council, SLC calculates that as people supported by the project have moved onto public funds following a successful application, the potential sums saved by the council amount to £32,060.19 per month or £384,722.28 per year.

Case Study: The Oxfordshire Homeless Movement Partnership

The local Issue

Prior to the pandemic, there was very little in place to support non-UK nationals with restricted eligibility within Oxfordshire, despite non-UK nationals making up around 10% of the rough sleeping population. This was recognised as a key gap in provision prior to the pandemic by the partners in Oxfordshire Homeless Movement (OHM), a coalition which brings together key stakeholders across the County.

Through the Everyone In scheme, homelessness organisations and Oxfordshire Councils housed approx. 350 people across a number of venues. Of these, approx. 20 people were identified as having restricted entitlements based on their immigration status, including NRPF. The majority of these were from outside the EU.

Steps taken to address this

The need to find longer-term solutions for this cohort being accommodated in Everyone In hotels kick-started project planning. The OHM steering group agreed that this should be a priority and in late 2020/early 2021 facilitated the design of a project that brought together its partners' varying areas of expertise and resource.

The objective of the programme is to provide accommodation based on Housing First principles for individuals alongside immigration advice, and person-centred holistic support, to the point where they become self-sufficient and contribute positively to the Oxfordshire community. The project is planned to run for five years, with an estimated cost per person per year of just under £14,500 including rent, support, advice, property set up and maintenance⁶¹.

The approach involves:

- A housing-led approach, which prioritises individuals' choice and control and has no defined endpoint. Suitable, accessible housing is provided at a peppercorn rent.
- A strength-based approach: Understanding strengths, weaknesses and aspirations and designing a support and development programme suited to the individual.

 $^{^{61}}$ This cost estimate is correct when the project is supporting 12 people, is decreases to £13,500 pppa if supporting the full cohort of 21 people.

- Regular subsistence payments and a support offer including mental health, wellbeing, drug and alcohol and employment support.
- Resolving immigration status to help people to access mainstream benefits and support.
- Partnership working with multi-agency case management: regular meetings with project partners to share information and progress residents' cases.

Project partners and roles

- **Soha**, a housing association in Oxfordshire, who's CEO sits on the OHM steering group, committed to offering housing for 12 individuals charging only a peppercorn rent.
- **Aspire** provides property management and maintenance services
- **Asylum Welcome** provide expert immigration and asylum casework to support access to and maximise effectiveness of legally aided help, as well as supporting applications to the EU Settlement Scheme.
- **Connection Support** is the main support provider, creating tailored support plans to holistically care for clients' wellbeing, and specialist trauma support. Three part-time support workers, all with experience of the immigration system, deliver support to the project's clients.

Measuring success

OHM will work with the Centre for Homelessness Impact (CHI) to ensure the project is evaluated independently. The project will use a combination of 'hard' measures – like resolution of immigration status and tenancy sustainment - alongside a 'soft' storytelling methodology known as "Most Significant Change", which is well suited to assessing individual outcomes and for use with the small number of people in scope.

Progress so far

When the first interim accommodation unit closed, all individuals with NRPF were able to be accommodated in housing provided free of charge by University College, before 3 people were moved into project accommodation and 1 person was moved to temporary accommodation provided by partner Aspire until long term accommodation can be sourced. As of September 2021, the project is supporting 13 clients and housing nine.

The project team is currently working with St Mungo's and Oxford City Council to establish the total number of people requiring accommodation with the remaining Everyone In venue closes. The hope is to be able to house all 20 in the cohort by the end of summer 2022.

Factors that have helped

- Having a well-established partnership with a shared vision, allowing multiple organisations to come together easily and use different specialisms to react quickly to the pandemic situation.
- Being a City of Sanctuary, with the project reflecting this ethos.
- Support from Oxford City, District and County Councils, including help to identify funding sources.
- The availability of social housing at peppercorn rent through Soha Housing Association.

Challenges and barriers to sustainability

OHM estimates that supporting approx. 20 people over five years will cost in the region between £1.36 and £1.48 million. The funds so far have come from successful grant applications to trusts and foundations and local philanthropists, but much more funding is required to secure the project for five years, to place the full cohort of 20 and allow for referrals as people move on. As of September 2021, the project is around £30.000 short of being able to support 12 people for 18 months.

Further Information

Oxfordshire Homeless Movement's website

Case Study: Reading Borough Council

The local Issue

Reading's commissioned street outreach service had seen an increase in people with restricted immigration status sleeping rough prior to 2020, most significantly EEA nationals with precarious employment who tended to live in encampments outside of the town centre. Although an assertive outreach approach was taken, it was recognised that these individuals would remain rough sleeping, seeking employment and accessing freely available food, due to the limited accommodation options and specialist advice. Reading had allocated RSI funding to reconnect foreign nationals to accommodation in their country of origin but there was also little uptake of this reconnection offer.

Prior to the pandemic, Reading were already working with partners to develop a response for individuals who were not in the process of seeking asylum. Statutory and community sector partners had identified gaps in immigration advice, guidance and accommodation options. To respond to this, a sub-group of the Reading Homelessness Partnership (HoP) was formed and included the Red Cross, Reading Refugee Support Group, Citizens Advice Reading, Reading Borough Council and others. But with limited resource, funding and capacity across the specialist agencies it was difficult to move forward beyond meeting basic needs provision that was already provided.

Key challenges experienced in engaging with this group:

- An independent client group with complex needs
- Significant and entrenched mental health and substance misuse needs
- Significant and predominant goal for individuals is to gain employment
- Complex immigration cases due to offending histories
- Language and translation requirements
- Cultural distrust of UK authorities and little support provided in countries of origin

A partnership approach to EUSS applications

Reading's Everyone In offer was active between March and August 2020. From December 2020, additional grants acquired via the Cold Weather Fund and Protect Programme funded a new 'off the streets' winter provision offer, which was active until the end of March 2021. Those accommodated under Everyone In, Cold Weather and Protect Programme initiatives have continued to be from the date they were placed, whilst move-on options are scoped. Several people with restricted eligibility were accommodated; predominantly Polish and Portuguese nationals. The small number of non-EEA nationals accommodated received support from specialist solicitors (provided

by local charities) to obtain leave to remain; which was more complex usually due to offending histories.

In July 2020, the council received NSAP funding to employ both a Co-ordinator and an NRPF Navigator based in two local charities, with the predominant aim to support individuals to apply for the EU Settlement Scheme (EUSS). The two staff and a personal budgets fund was approximately £65k. The Co-ordinator and Navigator worked with people accommodated under Everyone In and Winter Provision, as well as those precariously housed and at risk of rough sleeping.

For a full year, from September 2020, the council chaired a project group which met weekly to oversee the work of the project and direct support agencies and their actions. Three support providers are involved and have clients allocated to them:

- **St Mungo's**: commissioned assertive outreach provider working with people on the streets and hotels
- **Launchpad**: commissioned cross-tenure floating support provider, signposting advice and Work and Life Skills support which was made available to this cohort. Launchpad employed the NRPF Co-ordinator via quick secondment internally and made partnership links with Settled.org for specialist advice
- **FAITH**: previous provider of winter shelter network, which was predominantly occupied by people with restricted eligibility. They provide project Navigators (2 P/T workers) which are now permanent roles as well as meeting basic needs (food handouts and parcels)

The types of support provided by the project includes:

- co-ordination and case management of EUSS applications;
- support to arrange and attend embassy and Home Office appointments;
- liaison with solicitors at Here for Good charity;
- supporting applications for ID documents;
- ensuring application outcomes are pursued and prioritised;
- 'personalisation pot' to pay for associated costs (embassy travel costs, ID, immigration/legal advice and entry to employment costs).

Given the multiple needs and complex immigration issues many clients faced, wider holistic support was provided before broaching or beginning a EUSS application. Once leave to remain is obtained, the clients are referred to the Homelessness Prevention Team for support with accessing accommodation. Support agencies continue to provide navigation and support until the individual is in settled accommodation.

Outcomes of the NRPF Project

Successful outcomes to date have tended to be for those individuals more willing to engage and without offending histories. Those where applications are still in progress have higher needs, more complex immigration cases, difficulties sustaining employment and have intermittent engagement. Immigration cases with outstanding or complex offending histories are held at 'Suitability Stage' by the Home Office until this is resolved and some have paper applications submitted, due to lack of identification or not being able to obtain identification due to outstanding offences, which are being processed more slowly.

A total of 81 people have been supported by the project since July 2020; almost all being from the EU. Accurate on 1st October, 28 individuals are still supported by the NRPF Project. 18 have EU Pre-Settled/Settled Status or Indefinite/Limited Leave to Remain outcomes but are still seeking settled accommodation and 10 have submitted applications pending leave to remain outcomes. Other outcomes for the cohort supported since July 2020 include:

- 23 obtained a status/leave to remain outcome and moved into accommodation (i.e. private rented, supported housing, reconnected);
- 9 abandoned placements, 7 of whom were placed again with a positive or ongoing accommodation offer;
- 8 were evicted due to behaviours or non-engagement; none of these are rough sleeping currently;
- 1 went into custody;
- 1 individual fled DV and 1 entered Mental health hospital (on two occasions)
- 10 individuals were supported by the NRPF Project without emergency accommodation being provided.

Throughout July 2021, 4 individuals without recourse were verified by the outreach team, but each on only one occasion. Throughout August and September 2021, one of these individuals was verified again. In September, 2 new individuals without recourse were verified bedded down without an offer from the streets being available to them.

Funding for the NRPF Project has now come to an end. The Reading HoP are looking to transform the project into a strategic working group which will aim to explore accommodation options and funding streams for clients with restricted eligibility and developing a response with voluntary and community sector partners.

Other partners/agencies Involved

Along with those outlined above, other partners and wider support agencies include:

Health Outreach Liaison Team (HOLT): Funded by NHS to provide physical and mental health outreach to people sleeping rough or not being engaged by mainstream health providers. They provide assessment and testing, referrals for chronic and serious health conditions and supported with results and hospital admissions during lockdowns

Reading Refugee Support Group: Provide legal advice and support for non-EEA nationals with complex and long-standing applications for leave to remain in addition to their core service for those seeking refugee and asylum support.

Red Cross Reading: Provide one-off income grants to meet basic needs

Settled.org: Provide ad-hoc immigration advice, and EUSS application services paid for with NSAP funding https://settled.org.uk/en/.

Here for Good: Provide free legal advice and EUSS case management for migrants with offending histories applying for leave to remain https://www.hereforgoodlaw.org/.

Citizens Advice Reading: Provided OISC Level 1 and Level 2 immigration advice although their funding recently ended so the other advice agencies are relied upon.

Home Office: Since June 2021, a single point of contact has provided weekly updates on outstanding cases. This has been useful as there were previously initial difficulties in obtaining responses from them. This was enabled following raising concerns to DLUHC RSI advisor.

New Beginnings: Previously provided year round shelter provision. RSI funds were allocated to obtain them Housing Justice accreditation and support. They are currently exploring options for COVID-19 safe provision this coming winter, and individuals with restricted eligibility will be prioritised.

Factors that have helped

- Suspension of derogation which led to the pilot and ongoing work with this group
- The existing Homelessness Partnership (HoP) and NRPF sub-group

- The ability to use NSAP grant funding to take a targeted approach to this cohort including funds for accommodation, translation and immigration advice, during the nationally extended suspension of derogation period due to the pandemic
- Having dedicated roles able to take time to build relationships and establish trust
- Having a Single Point Of Contact at the Home Office, facilitated by the RSI advisor.

Challenges and barriers to providing support

- Full restriction placed upon local government not to spend any grant funding on those without recourse who sleep rough including support and accommodation
- Increased level of planning required between agencies due to the complexity of organising support;
- Obtaining IDs and making appointments from embassies especially when unable to travel to London:
- Obtaining/providing evidence of residing in the UK;
- Capacity of resource in specialist immigration services;
- Initial slow responses from the Home Office and EU Resolution Centre (overcome through Single Point of Contact)
- Reconnection limitations due to COVID-19
- Employment limitations as a consequence of the pandemic.

Further Information

A blog on Reading's approach was published by the Street Support Network in May 2021: https://news.streetsupport.net/2021/05/18/no-recourse-to-public-funds/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=no-recourse-to-public-funds

Further Resources

ADASS (Directors of Adult Social Services)

EUSS information hub for practitioners, which is also relevant to homelessness services:

https://www.adass.org.uk/euss

The Asylum Support Appeals Project

A list of specialist refugee & asylum support organisations by region:

http://www.asaproject.org/resources/organisations-who-can-help

Free advice and legal help to practitioners and individuals appealing Home Office Asylum Support decisions including an advice line:

http://www.asaproject.org/

Asylum Aid (Part of the Helen Bamber Foundation).

Legal aid advice and representation on behalf of people seeking asylum and refugees: www.asylumaid.org.uk

ATLEU (Anti Trafficking Legal Aid Unit)

Charity providing legal advice and support to survivors of trafficking and slavery: www.atleu.org.uk

British Red Cross

Emergency support for refugees, people seeking asylum and vulnerable migrants including food and clothing. Also settlement support, specialist help for young refugees and support in reuniting with family:

https://www.redcross.org.uk/get-help/get-help-as-a-refugee

Citizens Advice

Confidential advice on full range of issues through national charity website and face to face through network of local advice agencies:

www.citizensadvice.org.uk

Doctors of the World UK

Support with, and guidance resources on, access to NHS care and charging, Translated resources on COVID-19. Advice line. London based clinic:

www.doctorsoftheworld.org.uk/

EU Citizens Rights for EU citizens living in the UK with website which includes an interactive database of local organisations providing support and information: http://www.eurights.uk/

Freedom from Torture

Specialist psychological therapy to help asylum seekers and refugees who have survived torture. Training for professionals working with torture survivors. www.freedomfromtorture.org

Greater London Authority (GLA)

The GLA hosts the European Londoners Hub with up-to-date guidance for EU/EEA nationals on rights, entitlements and how to apply to the EUSS.

https://www.london.gov.uk/programmes-strategies/communities-and-social-justice/migrants-and-refugees/european-londoners

Helen Bamber Foundation

Charity providing therapy, medical advice, legal protection, housing and welfare, counter trafficking and help with integration into the community for refugees and asylum seekers who are survivors of extreme human cruelty:

www.helenbamber.org/

Home Office

Detailed information on the UK immigration system:

https://www.gov.uk/topic/immigration-operational-guidance

Welcome guide for new refugees (including multiple language versions):

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/welcome-a-guide-for-new-refugees Asylum support:

https://www.gov.uk/entering-staying-uk/support-asylum-claimants-refugees Leaflets and facts sheets on EUSS late applications:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/eu-settlement-scheme-informationfor-late-applicants

Homeless Link

Support and guidance for homeless organisations including resources on supporting people with restricted eligibility, refugees and asylum seekers and also on trauma informed care.

https://homeless.org.uk/knowledge-hub/

Housing Rights Information

Online housing rights advice produced by Chartered Institute of Housing & BME National for newly arrived migrants and their advisors.

www.housing-rights.info/index.php

Rights and information for EU nationals

https://www.housing-rights.info/brexit-news.php

Immigration Law Practitioners Association

Membership body for Immigration Advisors and member directory to search for advisors.

www.ilpa.org.uk/

Joint Council for the Welfare of Immigrants (JCWI)

Legal advice, support, online resources and guides for migrants and professionals. Helpline for irregular migrants.

www.jcwi.org.uk/

Language Line

Company offering video and telephone interpretation for a fee. https://www.languageline.com/uk/s/

Law Centres Network

List of Law Centres some of which will have speciality in immigration and asylum law. www.lawcentres.org.uk

Law Society

Search facility for find specialist immigration solicitors https://www.lawsociety.org.uk/

Mayor of London

Information and resources for migrants and refugees living in London: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/communities/migrants-and-refugees
Information and resources for Europeans living in London: https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/european-londoners-hub

Migrant Help

Support asylum seekers throughout the asylum journey and post decision. Specialist support to victims of human trafficking and modern slavery. Helpline. www.migranthelp.org

NACCOM (No Accommodation Network)

Network of accommodation projects for those with no recourse to public funds. Toolkits for setting up projects.

www.naccom.org.uk

New Europeans

Charity supporting EEA nationals in the UK to access their rights and entitlement. Range of online films in different languages about applying to the EUSS: https://neweuropeans.uk/managing-your-status/

NRPF Network

Support, training and guidance to LAs on NRPF issues www.nrpfnetwork.org.uk

Office of the Immigration Services Commissioner (OISC)

Government office that regulates immigration advice. Search facility for finding registered advisors.

http://home.oisc.gov.uk

Praxis

Charity providing specialist advice, support and accommodation. www.praxis.org.uk

Rainbow Migration

Supports LGBTQI+ people through the asylum and immigration system. https://rainbowmigration.org.uk/en

Refugee Action

Specialist help, advice and support to asylum seekers and refugees through regional projects. Resettlement support for refugees. Training, resources and toolkits for organisations and advisors.

www.refugee-action.org.uk

Separate website for good practice resources and specific Refugee Immigration Advice Project (RIAP) to support non-profit organisations with OISC training and accreditation. https://www.ragp.org.uk/

https://www.ragp.org.uk/fiap/overview

Right to Remain

Charity offering resources and toolkit for community groups and organisations to help people establish their right to remain.

https://righttoremain.org.uk/

Refugee Council

Advice, support and resettlement services for refugees and people seeking asylum www.refugeecouncil.org.uk

Refugees at Home

Hosting scheme connecting those with a spare room to refugees and asylum seekers needing accommodation.

https://www.refugeesathome.org/

Refuge

National charity supporting those experiencing domestic abuse. 24 hour national domestic abuse helpline with language line services:

https://www.refuge.org.uk/

Streetlink

National rough sleeper referral service to connect people sleeping rough (including non-UK nationals) with outreach support.

www.streetlink.org.uk

the3million

Information on rights and entitlements for EU citizens in the UK https://www.the3million.org.uk/rights-have-changed

Trussell Trust

Network of approximately 1200 local foodbanks providing emergency food and supplies and emergency support.

https://www.trusselltrust.org/get-help/find-a-foodbank/

Unseen

National charity supporting victims of modern slavery and exploitation. National helpline:

https://www.unseenuk.org/

NRPF Network

Practical guidance for councils on service delivery: https://guidance.nrpfnetwork.org.uk/reader/key-elements-service-models/

What We Do

Homeless Link is the national membership charity for frontline homelessness services. We work to improve services through research, guidance and learning, and campaign for policy change that will ensure everyone has a place to call home and the support they need to keep it.

Homeless Link

Minories House 2-5 Minories London EC3N 1BJ

www.homeless.org.uk @HomelessLink

Seless, org. uk Let's End Homelessness **Together**

